
 

 

 

 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA   

 

MERCK SHARP & DOHME CORP., 

  Plaintiff, 

 v. 

PFIZER INC. and WENDY J. WATSON, 

  Defendants. 

 
Civil Action No. ____________________ 
 
COMPLAINT AND DEMAND  
FOR JURY TRIAL 
 
 

 

Plaintiff Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. (“Merck”), by and through its undersigned 

counsel, and for its complaint against Pfizer Inc. (“Pfizer”) and Wendy J. Watson (“Watson”) 

(collectively, “Defendants”), alleges as follows:   

INTRODUCTION 

1. This is case of, among other things, trade secret theft.  The evidence points to 

only one conclusion:  Watson stole Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret 

information and took it to her new employer, Pfizer, which was in a race with Merck to develop 

and license new vaccines in a several-billion-dollar vaccine market.  As an employee of Merck 

(or a predecessor of Merck) for over six years, Watson was Senior Director and Director of 

Regulatory Liaison, the point of contact between the United States Food & Drug Administration 
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(“FDA”) and Merck for its various vaccine programs.  In that critical and trusted role as the face 

of Merck and government liaison, Watson had access to nearly all of Merck’s confidential 

documents, trade secrets and proprietary information relating to Merck’s vaccine programs.  But, 

unbeknownst to Merck, on the eve of her departure to join Merck’s chief competitor, Pfizer, 

Watson stole confidential Merck documents, trade secrets and proprietary information and 

brought that stolen information with her to her new employer Pfizer.   

2. The facts speak for themselves.  After informing Merck that she was leaving the 

company, and in the final days of her employment at Merck, Watson surreptitiously accessed 

and/or downloaded thousands of proprietary documents from Merck’s secure computer system.  

On her final two days of employment alone, Watson accessed and/or downloaded over 

2,200 documents on Merck’s system.  Those documents contained many of Merck’s most highly 

confidential and trade secret information on its vaccine programs.  There is no justification for 

Watson’s actions.  There was no legitimate reason for Watson to have accessed and/or 

downloaded these documents at a time when she was preparing to leave Merck to begin 

employment at one of Merck’s chief competitors.  Indeed, Watson pursued this unauthorized 

conduct after she was expressly instructed by Merck to stop engaging in certain business 

activities—given her impending departure to Merck’s chief competitor in the vaccine area—and 

after January 18, 2011, when Watson executed an agreement with Merck, “Reminder of Terms 

and Conditions of Employment” (the “2011 Agreement”), which reminded Watson of her 

obligations and duties to Merck regarding Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret 

information.   

3. Tellingly, Watson accessed and/or downloaded many of Merck’s documents 

outside of normal business hours; attempting to conceal her conduct, she acted covertly late at 
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night.  For example, at around 10 pm on the night before her last day of employment with 

Merck, Watson inserted a USB drive into her computer, and accessed and/or downloaded 

hundreds of documents in a period spanning approximately 25 minutes.  The access and/or 

download of such a large volume of documents in a mere 25 minutes on the night before her last 

day of work at Merck, in combination with the fact that Watson had a USB drive connected to 

her computer, suggests that Watson was not simply reviewing these documents, rather she was 

deliberately copying them to the USB drive for later use as an employee of Pfizer.   

4. The Merck documents that Watson accessed and/or downloaded included 

proprietary and highly confidential information, including important details about many of 

Merck’s significant, cutting edge trade secrets.  For example, the documents accessed and/or 

downloaded by Watson included, but were not limited to:  (a) chemical, manufacturing and 

control (“CMC”) documents; (b) regulatory affair documents; (c) drug substance and clinical 

study documents; (d) documents with confidential and proprietary methods of manufacturing; (e) 

competitive business intelligence documents; and (f) business strategy documents.  There can be 

no question that Watson appreciated the significant and sensitive nature of Merck’s information 

in these documents, especially given her position within Merck at the time as Senior Director,  

Regulatory Liaison.  Indeed, there was no mistaking that these documents contained protected 

information, as many of them were labelled by Merck as “restricted,” “confidential” and/or 

“limited access.”   

5. Watson concealed her deceptive misconduct in the most clandestine fashion.  

Although Watson’s theft occurred in the months bridging 2010 and 2011, Merck had no 

knowledge or suspicion of any of Watson’s misconduct (or Pfizer’s misconduct) until at least the 

Spring of 2017, and was not reasonably aware of the possible extent of her misconduct (or 
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Pfizer’s misconduct) until much later in time.  Merck discovered that Watson betrayed the 

company’s trust through subsequent investigations into Watson’s conduct occurring prior to her 

departure from Merck for Pfizer.   

6. Soon after Merck’s preliminary investigations were complete, Merck contacted 

Pfizer in February 2018.  Merck expressed concerns that Watson had disclosed Merck’s 

confidential information and documents to Pfizer and improperly used such information and 

documents to Pfizer’s benefit.  But, Pfizer was unwilling to conduct a thorough investigation as 

proposed by Merck, which was necessitated by Watson’s misconduct.  Instead, Pfizer insisted on 

a restricted investigation (e.g., based on a narrow and limited search for unique identifiers 

corresponding to specific Merck electronic files).   

7. As a result of initial investigations, Merck renewed its request that Pfizer agree 

to more thorough forensic investigations and searching.  But Pfizer steadfastly refused and 

stonewalled Merck, despite assurances that any additional investigations would be quick and 

non-disruptive.  

8. All forensic investigations and related negotiations came to an end in mid-2019.  

After it became clear that Pfizer would no longer cooperate to assess the full extent of Merck’s 

harm, Merck filed this lawsuit.   

NATURE OF THE ACTION   

9. This is an action for misappropriation of trade secrets in violation of:  (a) the 

Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 (“DTSA”), 18 U.S.C. § 1836, et seq.; (b) the Pennsylvania 

Uniform Trade Secrets Act (“PUTSA”), 12 PA. CONS. STAT. §§ 5301–5308; and 

(c) Pennsylvania common law.   

10. This is also an action for computer fraud and abuse in violation of the Computer 

Fraud and Abuse Act of 1986 (“CFAA”), 18 U.S.C. § 1030.   

Case 2:19-cv-02011-PD   Document 1   Filed 05/06/19   Page 4 of 44



 - 5 - 

11. This is also an action for breach of contract, breach of the duty of loyalty, 

breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, conversion, unfair competition and 

unjust enrichment.   

12. This is also an action for declaratory judgment as to patent ownership and, in 

the alternative, inequitable conduct arising under the patent laws of the United States, 35 U.S.C. 

§ 1, et seq., regulations of the United States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”), 37 C.F.R. 

§ 1.1, et seq., and the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202.   

13. Watson violated express and implied duties of confidentiality owed to Merck 

by, among other things, taking, retaining without authorization and otherwise wrongfully 

converting and misappropriating Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information 

and, upon information and belief, using that information without authorization for the benefit of 

Watson and her new employer and Merck competitor, Pfizer, and to the detriment of Merck.  

Similarly, upon information and belief, Pfizer, individually and/or by and through Watson, 

wrongfully converted and misappropriated Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret 

information and used that information without authorization to its benefit and Merck’s harm and 

continues to do so.   

14. Watson, by and through her employment agreements with Merck, assigned to 

Merck all present and future interests in any inventions, discoveries, strategies or methodologies 

developed or conceived by Watson while employed at Merck (or a predecessor of Merck).  As a 

result, Watson’s interests in any Pfizer patents or patent applications covering such inventions 

were conveyed to Merck by operation of law, making Merck the sole owner or joint owner 

thereof.   
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15. Alternatively, Watson, Pfizer and/or its employees and/or representatives 

violated the duty of candor and good faith and engaged in inequitable conduct before the 

USPTO, by, inter alia, knowingly and materially misrepresenting the inventorship of various 

Pfizer patents or patent applications by representing that Pfizer employees were the sole 

inventors or co-inventors, rendering any such patent or patent application unenforceable against 

Merck.   

16. In addition to such relief that this Court finds just and proper, Merck seeks 

compensatory and punitive damages, temporary, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, 

and a declaratory judgment naming Merck the sole owner or joint owner of any and all Pfizer 

patents or patent applications naming Watson as an inventor or co-inventor that relate to 

inventions, discoveries, strategies or methodologies developed or conceived at Merck with the 

knowledge and/or assistance of Watson or that use Merck’s confidential, proprietary or trade 

secret information.  Alternatively, Merck seeks a declaratory judgment finding such patents (and 

any other such patent(s) that may issue hereafter) unenforceable against Merck.   

THE PARTIES   

17. Merck is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

New Jersey, having a principal place of business at One Merck Drive, Whitehouse Station, New 

Jersey 08889.  As part of its business, Merck is involved in the research, development and 

marketing of pharmaceutical products.  Merck is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Merck & Co., 

Inc., a New Jersey corporation that has its principal place of business at 2000 Galloping Hill 

Road, Kenilworth, New Jersey 07033.   

18. Upon information and belief, Watson is a resident of Pennsylvania, residing at 

121 Bay Hill Drive, Blue Bell, Pennsylvania 19422.  Upon information and belief, Watson has 

served as Director, Vaccines Clinical Research, with Pfizer at its facility in Collegeville, 
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Pennsylvania from January 24, 2011 to the present, and by doing so has availed herself of the 

privileges of Pennsylvania law.  Upon information and belief, a substantial part of the acts 

alleged in this complaint were performed by Watson in Pennsylvania, specifically at Pfizer’s 

facility in Collegeville, Pennsylvania.   

19. Upon information and belief, Pfizer is a Delaware corporation, having its 

principal place of business at 235 East 42nd Street, New York, New York 10017.   

20. Upon information and belief, Pfizer has physical places of business in 

Pennsylvania, including the cities of Collegeville and Carlisle, and by doing so has availed itself 

of the privileges of Pennsylvania law.  Upon information and belief, a substantial part of the acts 

alleged in this complaint were performed by a Pfizer employee (Watson) in Pennsylvania, 

specifically at Pfizer’s facility in Collegeville, Pennsylvania using Pfizer’s computers, equipment 

and/or other resources.   

21. Upon information and belief, Pfizer is in the business of researching, 

developing, making and selling pharmaceutical products, which it distributes in Pennsylvania 

and throughout the United States.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE   

22. This action arises under the DTSA, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1836, et seq., the PUTSA, 

12 PA. CONS. STAT. §§ 5301–5308, the CFAA, 18 U.S.C. § 1030, the patent laws of the United 

States, 35 U.S.C. § 1, et seq., regulations of the USPTO, 37 C.F.R. § 1.1, et seq., and 

Pennsylvania law.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1332, 1338(a), 2201 and 2202, and has supplemental jurisdiction over the 

state law claims alleged in this complaint pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.   

23. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Watson because, inter alia, Watson is 

a resident of Pennsylvania.  Additionally, Watson had, and continues to have, substantial and 

Case 2:19-cv-02011-PD   Document 1   Filed 05/06/19   Page 7 of 44



 - 8 - 

continuing contacts with Pennsylvania by and through her employment with Pfizer at its facility 

in Collegeville, Pennsylvania where, upon information and belief, a substantial part of the 

actions causing Merck’s injuries and giving rise to Merck’s claims occurred.  These purposeful 

actions constitute at least minimum contacts with Pennsylvania such that the maintenance of this 

suit in this Court does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.   

24. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Pfizer because, inter alia:  Pfizer has a 

physical presence in Pennsylvania, including places of business in Collegeville and Carlisle; 

Pfizer has, and continues to, conduct business in Pennsylvania; Pfizer has, and continues to, avail 

itself of the rights and benefits of Pennsylvania law; and Pfizer has, and continues to, 

purposefully avail itself of the privilege of conducting business in Pennsylvania.  Moreover, 

since January 24, 2011, Pfizer has employed Watson at its facility in Collegeville, Pennsylvania 

where, upon information and belief, a substantial part of the actions causing Merck’s injuries and 

giving rise to Merck’s claims occurred using Pfizer’s computers, equipment and/or other 

resources.  Additionally, Pfizer has previously consented to personal jurisdiction in this Court in 

numerous other cases, including:  Pfizer Inc. v. Astra Pharmaceutical Products, Inc., No. 2:92-

mc-00428-WY (E.D. Pa. 1992); Georgine v. Amchem Products, Inc., No. 2:93-cv-00215-ER 

(E.D. Pa. 1993); Pfizer Inc. v. Underwriters Reinsurance Co., No. 2:99-cv-01903-CRW (E.D. 

Pa. 1999); Pfizer Inc. v. Stewart & Tate, Inc., No. 2:02-cv-00172-JG (E.D. Pa. 2002); Pfizer 

Inc. v. Pharmaceutical Holdings Corp., No. 2:03-cv-00740-JK (E.D. Pa. 2003); Pfizer Inc. v. 

Nelson Weaver & Son, Inc., No. 2:03-cv-02100-TJS (E.D. Pa. 2003); Pfizer Inc. v. Buy-Rite 

Liquidators, Inc., No. 2:03-cv-03366-JKG (E.D. Pa. 2003); Pfizer Inc. v. Overnite 

Transportation Co., No. 2:04-cv-02438-TJS (E.D. Pa. 2004); Carver v. Owens Corning 
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Fiberglas, No. 2:11-cv-62578-ER (E.D. Pa. 2011); Pfizer Inc. v. Johnson & Johnson, No. 2:17-

cv-04180-JCJ (E.D. Pa. 2017); and Pfizer Inc. v. Amann, No. 2:17-cv-00911-ER (E.D. Pa. 2017).   

25. Upon information and belief:  (a) Pfizer is in the business of researching, 

developing, manufacturing, marketing, distributing and selling pharmaceutical drug products, 

including vaccines, either directly or through its subsidiaries, agents and/or alter egos, that Pfizer 

manufactures, distributes, markets and sells throughout the United States and in this Judicial 

District; (b) Pfizer purposefully has conducted business and continues to conduct business 

directly and/or through its subsidiaries, agents and/or alter egos in this Judicial District; (c) this 

Judicial District is a destination of Pfizer’s products and/or potential products related to this 

lawsuit; and (d) Pfizer maintains a physical presence in this Judicial District.   

26. Venue is proper in this Judicial District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.  

Specifically, upon information and belief, inter alia, a substantial part of the events giving rise to 

Merck’s claims and causing Merck’s injuries occurred at Pfizer’s facility in Collegeville, 

Pennsylvania, i.e., within this Judicial District.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2).   

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CLAIMS   

Merck’s And Pfizer’s Development Of Vaccines   

27. Merck is a pharmaceutical company that develops, manufactures and sells 

prescription medicines, vaccines, biologic therapies and animal health products worldwide.  

Merck devotes significant resources to researching and developing treatments for serious health 

challenges.  In 2016 alone, Merck spent approximately $6.8 billion on research and 

development.   
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28. Merck currently has approximately eighteen therapeutic programs in phase III 

clinical development.  By way of example only, one such therapeutic program includes the 

development of pneumococcal conjugate vaccines.   

29. Pneumococcal disease is any type of infection caused by Streptococcus 

pneumonia bacteria, also referred to as pneumococcus.  Pneumococcus can cause many types of 

illnesses, including life-threating illnesses such as meningitis.  There are approximately 97 

known pneumococcus serotypes (distinguishable strains).   

30. Merck has been, and continues to be, a pioneer in the development of 

pneumococcal vaccines.  There are two kinds of pneumococcal vaccines available in the United 

States:  pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccines (“PPSV”) and pneumococcal conjugate vaccines 

(“PCV”).  The Centers for Disease Control (“CDC”) recommends PCV for “all children younger 

than 2 years old, all adults 65 years or older, and people 2 through 64 years old with certain 

medical conditions.”  PNEUMOCOCCAL VACCINATION, https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vpd/ 

pneumo/index. html, (last visited May 3, 2019).  The CDC recommends PPSV for “all adults 65 

years or older, people 2 through 64 years old with certain medical conditions, and adults 19 

through 64 years old who smoke cigarettes.”  Id.  The immune response to pure polysaccharide 

vaccines is typically T-cell independent, and they are not consistently immunogenic in children 

younger than two years old, probably due to immaturity of the immune system.  Whereas, 

conjugate vaccines are a species of polysaccharide vaccines that are created by attaching a poor 

antigen to a strong antigen, thus encouraging a stronger response to the poor antigen.  In 1983, 

the FDA approved a 23-valent PPSV developed by Merck.  However, PPSV-23 did not induce a 

cell-mediated immune response in infants and thus led to the development of PCVs.  For 
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example, PCV-7 is the name of a seven-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine targeting seven 

different pneumococcus serotypes (4, 6B, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F and 23F).   

31. The first seven-valent PCV, Prevnar 7®, developed by Pfizer, was licensed in 

the United States in 2000, and a 13-valent PCV, Prevnar 13®, also developed by Pfizer, was 

introduced in the United States for children in 2010 and for adults in 2012.   

32. Separately, Merck was and still is pursuing its own, improved pneumococcal 

vaccine.  In the mid-2000s, it began developing a 15-valent PCV.  Merck pursued that program 

during Watson’s employment, and it is ongoing.  As part of its PCV-15 program, Merck 

developed the “V114” PCV, which includes the pneumococcus serotype 22F that was not 

included in either of Pfizer’s seven-valent or 13-valent PCV.   

33. At all times, Merck maintained the confidentiality of key aspects of its vaccine 

programs, including its PCV-15 program.  With respect to certain of these programs, including 

Merck’s PCV-15 program, Merck disclosed such aspects and information, as required by law, to 

the FDA in only non-public documents as required for regulatory approval.   

34. Pfizer currently markets Prevnar 13®, manufactured by Wyeth Pharmaceuticals 

Inc., a wholly-owned Pfizer subsidiary.  Upon information and belief, Prevnar 13® is Pfizer’s 

biggest selling product.  In 2017 alone, Prevnar 13® generated over $5 billion in sales.  Pfizer is 

currently developing additional multi-valent pneumococcal vaccines that are expected to 

compete with the vaccines that Merck has in development.   

Watson’s Employment With Merck   

35. Watson was a trusted employee of Merck (or a predecessor of Merck) for 

approximately 6 years; she joined the company in May, 2004 and left in January, 2011. 
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36. From approximately May of 2004 until her departure from Merck, Watson was 

Merck’s (or a predecessor of Merck) regulatory liaison with the FDA for Merck’s vaccine 

programs.  The vaccine programs for which she was the regulatory liaison included Merck’s 

PCV-15 program, which included development of the V114 PCV.   

37. Watson was involved in many aspects of Merck’s vaccine programs, including 

Merck’s PCV-15 program.   

38. Pursuant to Watson’s confidential relationship with Merck, and as part of her 

employment responsibilities, Watson was given access to Merck’s confidential, proprietary and 

trade secret information related to such programs.  For example, with respect to Merck’s PCV-15 

program, Watson had access to nearly all of Merck’s confidential documents and was 

responsible for preparing all submissions to regulatory agencies.  Watson attended nearly all 

regular meetings relating to Merck’s PCV-15 program, and she guided Merck’s PCV-15 team on 

the drug development process.  Watson was also a co-author on numerous scientific publications 

relating to Merck’s PCV-15 program, including Merck’s V114 PCV.   

Watson’s Departure From Merck And Subsequent Employment At Pfizer   

39. Upon information and belief, between about November 23, 2010 and December 

21, 2010, Watson interviewed for a position at Pfizer.   

40. Upon information and belief, on or about December 21, 2010, Watson accepted 

a position with Pfizer related to vaccine clinical research.   

41. Watson’s last day of employment at Merck was January 20, 2011.   

42. Upon information and belief, Watson began employment at Pfizer on 

January 24, 2011.   
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Watson’s Conduct Just Prior To Separating From Merck And Joining Pfizer   

43. There is no justification for Watson’s computer activity during the last few 

months of her employment with Merck—and in particular, the last week of her employment at 

Merck.  During this short period of time, Watson accessed and/or downloaded thousands of 

documents from Merck’s secure computer system with a USB drive connected to her computer.  

Many of those documents were accessed and/or downloaded after Watson informed Merck that 

she was leaving the company and in her final days of employment.  Watson had no legitimate 

reason to be accessing and/or downloading these documents, much less to be loading them onto a 

USB drive; she was preparing to start a new job at Merck’s primary vaccine competitor, Pfizer.  

Indeed, even after Merck instructed Watson to cease participating in certain business activities, 

and after signing a document reminding her of her obligations regarding Merck’s confidential, 

proprietary and trade secret information, she continued to access and/or download thousands of 

Merck documents while her computer was connected to a USB drive.  She accessed hundreds of 

documents within minutes of each other at machine speeds and then closed or deleted them.  

While accessing large volumes of documents, she removed one USB drive and inserted another.   

44. Over a span of seven days, from January 14, 2011—the date Merck instructed 

Watson that her attendance at one or more meetings was not needed due to her imminent 

departure—through her last day of employment with Merck on January 20, 2011, Watson 

accessed and/or downloaded over 4,000 documents from Merck’s secure computer system.   

45. On January 17, 2011—three days before departing Merck—Watson accessed 

and/or downloaded over 600 documents on Merck’s secure computer system with a computer 

and inserted USB drive.   
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46. On January 18, 2011—two days before departing Merck—Watson accessed 

and/or downloaded over 1,200 documents on Merck’s secure computer system with a computer 

and inserted USB drive.   

47. On January 19, 2011—the day before departing Merck— Watson accessed over 

2,200 documents on Merck’s secure computer system with a computer and inserted USB drive.   

48. Over the three days from December 13-15, 2010—about a week before advising 

Merck she was leaving—Watson accessed thousands of Merck documents with a computer and 

inserted USB drive.   

49. The timing and location of Watson’s activities reflect her attempt to conceal her 

misconduct.  Watson accessed and/or downloaded hundreds of Merck’s documents outside 

normal business hours and, upon information and belief, from her home, including:  

(a) approximately 89 documents during a two-hour period from approximately 10:19 p.m. on 

December 15, 2010 through approximately 12:34 a.m. on December 16, 2010; and 

(b) approximately 704 documents from approximately 9:47 p.m. through approximately 

10:12 p.m. on January 19, 2011—the night before her last day of employment with Merck.  

Upon information and belief, she accessed and/or downloaded these documents using a computer 

at her home with a USB drive inserted.   

50. The Merck documents and information that Watson accessed and/or 

downloaded relate to various Merck vaccine programs, including, but not limited to, the 

following types of confidential, proprietary and trade secret information with respect to those 

programs:  (a) chemical, manufacturing and control (“CMC”); (b) regulatory affairs; (c) drug 

substance and clinical studies; (d) confidential and proprietary methods of manufacturing; 
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(e) competitive business intelligence; and (f) overall business strategy.  Merck labelled many of 

the documents as “restricted,” “confidential” and/or “limited access.”   

51. For example, among other Merck documents, Watson accessed confidential and 

proprietary documents containing information about Merck’s V114 PCV, including detailed 

descriptions of V114 PCV-specific Manufacturing Processes and Process Controls, Conjugate 

Size, Conjugate Polysaccharide-to-Protein Ratio (“Ps:Pr Ratio”) and O-Acetate Content.   

52. Prior to departing from Merck, Watson did not notify Merck of any of her 

conduct described in the preceding paragraphs, nor did she return or obtain written authorization 

to retain copies of Merck’s documents or any of the USB devices she inserted into her 

computer(s).   

Watson’s Employment Agreements With Merck 

53. On May 17, 2004, Watson executed an employment agreement with Merck (or 

a predecessor of Merck) (the “2004 Agreement”), as is required by all Merck employees, that 

provided a number of specific provisions aimed to safeguard and protect Merck’s confidential 

and proprietary information.   

54. In paragraph 3 of the 2004 Agreement, Watson agreed that she would not 

“during or any time after the period of my employment by [Merck], use for myself or others or 

divulge or convey to others any information, knowledge, data or property relating to [Merck’s] 

business, developed, learned or in any way obtained by me during the course of my 

employment,” “includ[ing], but . . . not limited to information, knowledge, data or property 

concerning any process, strategy . . . ., methodology, apparatus or product manufactured, used, 

developed, marketed, investigated or considered by [Merck]” (emphasis added).   
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55. In paragraph 5 of the 2004 Agreement, Watson also agreed that “[a]ll 

memoranda, notes, records, . . . data files, . . . business or project data, papers or other 

documents, including electronic documents (and all copies thereof) relating to [Merck’s] 

business and all property associated therewith (such as but not confined to organisms, 

compounds, and models) in any way authored or obtained by me while employed by [Merck] 

shall be [Merck’s] property, and will not be removed from [Merck’s] premises without written 

authorization . . . , and shall be delivered by me to [Merck] on termination of employment” 

(emphasis added).   

56. In paragraph 7 of the 2004 Agreement, Watson further agreed that “[a]ll 

inventions and technical or business innovations, strategies or methodologies developed or 

conceived by me solely or jointly with others during the period of my employment (1) that are 

along the lines of the activities, operations, work or investigations of [Merck] or its affiliates to 

which my employment relates or as to which I may receive information due to my employment, 

or (2) that results from or are suggested by any work which I may do for [Merck] shall be 

[Merck’s] property” (emphasis added).   

57. On January 18, 2011, Watson executed an agreement with Merck, “Reminder of 

Terms and Conditions of Employment” (the “2011 Agreement”), to remind employees of the 

terms and conditions of employment that still apply beyond termination and for employees to 

acknowledge such obligations.   

58. In paragraph 2 of the 2011 Agreement, Watson confirmed and agreed that “[a]ll 

memoranda, notes, records, . . . data files, business or project data, papers or other documents, 

including electronic documents (and all copies thereof) relating to [Merck’s] business . . . in any 

way authored or obtained by me while employed by [Merck], including any copyright therein, or 
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other intellectual property, shall be [Merck’s] property, and will not be removed from [Merck’s] 

premises without written authorization . . . and shall be delivered by me to [Merck] on 

termination of employment” (emphasis added).   

59. In paragraph 4 of the 2011 Agreement, Watson confirmed and agreed that “[a]ll 

inventions, discoveries, strategies or methodologies developed or conceived by me solely or 

jointly . . . during the period of my employment (1) that were along the lines of the activities, 

operations, work or investigations of [Merck] or its affiliates to which my employment relates or 

as to which I had received information due to my employment, or (2) that results from or are 

suggested by any work which I have done for [Merck], are [Merck’s] property” (emphasis 

added).   

60. In paragraph 5 of the 2011 Agreement, Watson confirmed and agreed that 

“[w]ith regard to all inventions, strategies, methodologies, or discoveries within Paragraph 4 . . . 

[p]ursuant to the Conditions of Employment terms I agreed to when hired, I hereby grant and 

assign or confirm the grant and assignment to [Merck], the ownership and exclusive rights in 

such inventions, discoveries, patent applications, and patents” (emphasis added).   
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Merck’s Attempts To Uncover The Extent Of Watson’s And Pfizer’s Misconduct 

61. Merck had no knowledge or suspicion of any of Watson’s misconduct (or 

Pfizer’s misconduct) until at least the Spring of 2017 and did not become reasonably aware of 

the possible extent of her misconduct (or Pfizer’s misconduct) until much later in time.  In 2017, 

Merck began to investigate Watson’s conduct prior to separating from Merck and ultimately 

concluded that Watson had transferred confidential Merck documents to one or more USB drives 

before her departure from Merck.   

62. In February 2018, Merck contacted Pfizer expressing concerns surrounding 

Watson and her employment at Pfizer.   

63. When the parties first began negotiating the scope of the forensic examination 

of Pfizer’s electronic systems, Merck proposed a reasonable, but thorough search of Pfizer’s 

electronic systems to determine the scope of Watson’s misconduct and the extent to which 

Merck’s documents had been transferred and/or copied to Pfizer’s systems and shared 

throughout Pfizer.   

64. Pfizer was unwilling to conduct the type of investigation Merck proposed.  

Instead, Pfizer insisted on a narrow and limited investigation.   

65. On July 11, 2018, Merck and Pfizer entered an “Agreement To Toll Applicable 

Statutes Of Limitations.”  Pursuant to that agreement, “[a]ny statutes of limitations applicable to 

any rights, claims, causes of action and/or defenses held by either Party or any of their Affiliates 

in connection with or arising out of Watson’s Actions will be tolled for a period commencing 

from the effective date of this Tolling Agreement until ninety (90) days from the date of mailing 

written notice by any Party to the other Party of revocation of the tolling period.”   
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66. The tolling agreement was terminated on February 8, 2019, but pursuant to the 

tolling agreement, the tolling of any statute of limitations will remain in place until at least May 

9, 2019 (i.e., 90 days after the tolling agreement was terminated).   

67. Upon information and belief (including information obtained in July 2018), 

Watson stored Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information on Pfizer’s 

electronic devices and/or systems, including documents labelled by Merck as “restricted,” 

“confidential” and/or “limited access.”  Upon information and belief, this information included, 

but was not limited to, details regarding Merck’s vaccine and infectious disease franchises, 

including at least the following business, scientific, technical, economic and engineering 

information:  detailed analyses of Merck’s overall business strategy and plans for its vaccine 

programs; summaries of Merck’s vaccine compositions and formulations; Merck’s clinical 

considerations regarding pneumococcal conjugates; identification of serotypes and carrier 

protein for pneumococcal vaccines; extensive and valuable immunogenicity data; detailed 

comparisons of Merck’s PCV-15 vaccine against Pfizer’s Prevnar® vaccines; proof of concept 

studies for Merck’s pneumococcal vaccine candidates; proposed clinical plans; details regarding 

the protocols used to evaluate the immunogenicity of Merck’s PCV-15 vaccine; details regarding 

developmental assays for Merck’s PCV-15 vaccine; descriptions of Merck’s franchise-wide 

strategic goals; rankings of all of Merck’s vaccine program priorities; the status of Merck’s 

various vaccine programs; lists of criteria used to target and prioritize vaccines; details regarding 

clinical trial phase statuses for various vaccine programs; third-party partners and collaborations; 

competitive intelligence; market share breakdowns; global supply strategies; licensing strategies; 

summaries of pipeline products; and more.   
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68. Merck continued to request that Pfizer agree to more reliable and thorough 

investigations beyond the limited investigation that Pfizer was willing to conduct.  Despite 

repeated attempts to convince Pfizer to perform more thorough forensic investigations, Pfizer has 

been unwilling to accept Merck’s proposal and, thus, upon information and belief has engaged in 

concealment.  The parties’ discussions regarding forensic searching beyond a limited forensic 

search as proposed by Merck continued through at least mid-2019, but have been proven to be 

unproductive.   

Watson’s Patent Filing Activities While At Pfizer   

69. Upon information and belief, Watson has served as a Director, Vaccines 

Clinical Research, with Pfizer in Collegeville, Pennsylvania from January 24, 2011 to the 

present.   

70. On January 21, 2014, Pfizer filed U.S. Provisional Patent Application 

No. 61/929,547 (the “’547 application”) with the USPTO.  The ’547 application names Watson 

as a co-inventor.  The ’547 application is titled “Immunogenic Compositions for Use in 

Pneumococcal Vaccines.”  The ’547 application’s abstract states that “[t]he present invention 

relates to new immunogenic compositions for use in pneumococcal vaccines.  Immunogenic 

compositions of the present invention will typically comprise conjugated capsular saccharide 

antigens (glycoconjugates), in particular at least one glycoconjugate from a S. pneumonia 

serotype not found in Prevnar, Synflorix and/or Prevnar 13.”  The subject matter of the ’547 

application relates to, among other things, some of the confidential trade secrets that Watson was 

working on while employed at Merck (or a predecessor of Merck).  Watson also was working on 

a number of other programs at Merck that did not relate to the subject matter of the ’547 
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application, and Watson stole confidential, proprietary, and trade secret information relating to 

those other programs as well. 

71. On January 15, 2015, Pfizer filed U.S. Patent Application No. 14/597,488 

(the “’488 application”) with the USPTO.  The ’488 application claims priority to the 

’547 application.  The ’488 application states that the “invention relates to new immunogenic 

compositions comprising conjugated capsular saccharide antigens (glycoconjugates) and uses 

thereof.  Immunogenic compositions of the present invention will typically comprise 

glycoconjugates, wherein the saccharides are derived from serotypes of Streptococcus 

pneumoniae.  The invention also relates to vaccination of human subjects, in particular, infants 

and elderly, against pneumococcal infections using said novel immunogenic compositions.”  As 

with the ’547 application, the subject matter of the ’488 application relates to, among other 

things, some of the confidential trade secrets that Watson was working on in the final years of 

her employment with Merck.   

72. On the day Pfizer filed the ’488 application, Pfizer also filed an Application 

Data Sheet for the ’488 application with the USPTO, identifying Watson as a co-inventor of the 

’488 application.  On that same day, Watson executed a Declaration for the ’488 application, 

which Pfizer subsequently filed with the USPTO on March 16, 2015, identifying herself as “the 

original inventor or . . . joint inventor” of the ’488 application.   

73. On November 15, 2016, the ’547 application issued as U.S. Patent 

No. 9,492,559 (the “’559 patent”).  Watson is a named inventor on the ’559 patent, and she 

assigned her rights to that Patent to Pfizer.   

74. The ’559 patent claims “[a]n immunogenic composition comprising a 

Streptococcus pneumonia serotype 22F glycoconjugate” with a “molecular weight between 
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1000 kDa and 12,500 kDa” in which a “ratio (w/w) of the polysaccharide to the carrier protein is 

between 0.4 and 2.”  The ’559 patent further claims such composition “wherein the 

glycoconjugate comprises at least 0.1 mM acetate per mM polysaccharide.”   

75. The subject matter contained in the specification and claimed in the ’559 patent 

relates to some, but not all, of Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information that 

Watson accessed and/or downloaded just prior to her departure from Merck.  Indeed, the 

confidential and proprietary documents Watson accessed and/or downloaded identified the 

conjugate size, ratio of polysaccharide to carrier protein and O-acetate content for Merck’s 

pneumococcal vaccines in development, all of which are features claimed in the ’559 patent (as 

well as other Pfizer patents and/or applications on which Watson is a named inventor).  

Moreover, the subject matter claimed in the ’559 patent (as well as other Pfizer patents and/or 

applications on which Watson is a named inventor) concerns material to which Watson’s 

employment at Merck related and to which she would have received information due to her 

employment at Merck.   

76. Watson is a named inventor on numerous Pfizer patent applications related to 

pneumococcal vaccines, including:  U.S. Pat. App. No. 15/110,902 (the “’902 application”) 

(published as U.S. Pub. No. 2016/0324949 on November 10, 2016); U.S. Pat. App. 

No. 15/214,693 (the “’693 application”) (published as U.S. Pub. No. 2017/0021006 on 

January 26, 2017 and issued as U.S. Pat. No. 10,124,050 on November 13, 2018); U.S. Pat. App. 

No. 15/286,696 (the “’696 application”) (published as U.S. Pub. No. 2018/0099039 on April 12, 

2018); U.S. Pat. App. No. 16/140,934 (the “’934 application”) (published as U.S. Pub. 

No. 2019/0070282 on March 7, 2019); and U.S. Pat. App. No. 16/166,708 (the “’708 

application) (published as U.S. Pub. No. 2019/0070283 on March 7, 2019).  The ’696 application 
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is a divisional application of the ’488 application and claims priority from the ’547 application.  

The ’934 application is a continuation of the ’693 application.  The ’708 application is a 

divisional application of the ’902 application.  Watson is also named on a number of foreign 

patents/applications relating to the ’559 patent.   

77. Upon information and belief, neither Merck nor its employees or associates 

(other than former employee Watson) were ever identified before the USPTO as owners, 

inventors or contributors to the disclosures of the ’547 application, the ’488 application, the ’559 

patent, the ’902 application, the ’693 application, the ’696 application, the ’934 application, the 

’708 application, or any related domestic or foreign patents/applications (collectively, the 

“Watson Patents and Patent Applications”).  Nor was any of Merck’s work relating to 22F 

glycoconjugates, which Watson was well aware of, identified by Watson or Pfizer when 

submitting any of the above patent applications to the USPTO, despite being directly relevant to 

the patentability of the inventions claimed therein and despite Watson’s and Pfizer’s duty of 

candor and good faith to the USPTO.   

Merck’s Protection Of Its Trade Secrets   

78. Merck’s documents and information concerning its vaccine programs, including 

its pneumococcal vaccine program, are confidential and reflect proprietary trade secrets 

belonging to Merck.  Such confidential documents and information include, inter alia, the details 

of the vaccine compositions, formulations, immunological data and responses, manufacturing 

processes, dosing, methods of use, competitive landscape, overall business strategy and more, as 

to a number of vaccine programs, including pneumococcal vaccines.   
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79. Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information is used in 

connection with Merck’s business, products and services, including Merck’s development, 

manufacture and sale of vaccines (e.g., pneumococcal vaccines).   

80. Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information gives Merck a 

substantial competitive advantage over its existing and would-be competitors, including Pfizer, 

due to the significant investment of time, money and resources expended in developing those 

vaccine programs.  These advantages provide significant value to Merck over its competitors, 

such as Pfizer.   

81. Merck has at all times made reasonable efforts to preserve the secrecy of its 

confidential, proprietary and trade secret information, including, but not limited to:  restricted 

employee badge access; restricted regulatory access and approvals; restricted user credentials 

and security protocols on its computers and computer networks, including, inter alia, perimeter 

firewalls, antivirus and access controls for shared storage, and user access controls; employee 

training on handling of intellectual property and confidential, proprietary and trade secret 

information, including, inter alia, annual code-of-conduct training; and confidentiality 

designations on its files.  Computers provided to Merck’s employees are password protected and 

subject to other security measures.  Moreover, Merck secures its physical facilities by restricting 

access and then monitoring actual access with security cameras and guards.   

82. Merck also requires employees, contractors, consultants and vendors to sign 

non-disclosure and/or confidentiality agreements before any confidential, proprietary or trade 

secret information is disclosed to them.  Moreover, Merck requires employees to sign, as a 

condition of employment, agreements obligating employees to protect Merck’s confidential 

documents, information, trade secrets and intellectual property.   
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83. Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information derives 

independent economic value from not being generally known to the public or other persons who 

can obtain economic value from their disclosure, and from not being readily ascertainable by 

proper means.   

COUNT ONE: TRADE SECRET MISAPPROPRIATION UNDER THE DTSA   

(PFIZER AND WATSON) 

84. Merck repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-83 as though fully 

set forth herein.   

85. This is a claim for violation of the DTSA, 18 USC § 1836, for the 

misappropriation of Merck’s trade secrets on and after May 11, 2016.   

86. Merck owns the trade secrets misappropriated by Defendants, and those trade 

secrets are related to product used in, or intended for use in, interstate and/or foreign commerce.   

87. Watson, by and through her employment and employment agreements signed 

pursuant thereto, is subject to a continuing obligation to keep Merck’s confidential, proprietary 

and trade secret information confidential and not to engage in any unauthorized use or disclosure 

thereof.   

88. Watson, by and through her employment and employment agreements signed 

pursuant thereto, is subject to continuing confidentiality restrictions and has a duty to maintain 

confidentiality and not to use for any of her own purposes, or other’s purposes, the confidential, 

proprietary and trade secret information to which she had access pursuant to her employment 

with Merck.   

89. Watson, by working individually and/or under the direction of one or more 

persons at Pfizer, knowingly and intentionally acquired, disclosed and/or used Merck’s 

confidential, proprietary and trade secret information, including information about Merck’s 
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PCV-15 program among other products and/or services intended for use in interstate and/or 

foreign commerce, without the express or implied consent of Merck and by improper means, 

including conduct in breach of the 2004 Agreement, the 2011 Agreement, Watson’s confidential 

relationship with Merck and her express and/or implied duty of confidentiality to Merck.  Upon 

information and belief, Watson’s conduct described herein continued beyond May 11, 2016.  As 

a result, Watson and Pfizer have wrongfully converted and misappropriated Merck’s 

confidential, proprietary and trade secret information and used it for their benefit and to the 

detriment of Merck.   

90. Pfizer, individually and/or by and through Watson, knowingly and intentionally 

acquired, used and/or disclosed, and upon information and belief, continues to acquire, use 

and/or disclose Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information, including 

information about Merck’s PCV-15 program among other products and/or services intended for 

use in interstate and/or foreign commerce, without the express or implied consent of Merck, and 

knew or had reason to know that Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information 

was acquired by improper means by way of theft, breach or inducement of a breach of an express 

and/or implied duty to maintain the secrecy of, or to limit the use or disclosure of, Merck’s 

confidential, proprietary and trade secret information.  Upon information and belief, Pfizer’s 

conduct described herein continued beyond May 11, 2016. 

91. Upon information and belief, Watson’s conduct, constituting wrongful 

conversion and misappropriation, is the same as or similar in kind to that which she was hired to 

perform as Director, Vaccines Clinical Research, occurred substantially within the temporal and 

spatial scope of her employment at Pfizer, and was actuated, at least in part, in the service of 

Pfizer.   
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92. Pfizer’s acquisition, use and/or disclosure of Merck’s confidential, proprietary 

and trade secret information (at least through Watson) provided significant competitive benefit to 

Pfizer, including in its development and patenting of compositions relating to pneumococcal 

vaccines.   

93. The aforementioned collective acts of Defendants in wrongfully converting and 

misappropriating Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information were intentional, 

knowing, willful, malicious, fraudulent and oppressive.  The actions of Defendants, as set forth 

herein, constitute misappropriation under the DTSA, 18 U.S.C. § 1839.   

94. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, Merck has been greatly 

damaged, has suffered irreparable harm, and continues to suffer irreparable harm.   

95. If not enjoined by this Court, Defendants will continue to benefit from the 

misappropriation and use of Merck’s trade secrets, causing Merck continued irreparable harm, 

damage and injury.   

96. In addition to such relief that this Court finds just and proper, this Court should 

order Defendants to assign and/or otherwise convey ownership and title in the Watson Patents 

and Patent Applications to Merck.   

COUNT TWO: TRADE SECRET MISAPPROPRIATION UNDER THE PUTSA   

(PFIZER AND WATSON)   

97. Merck repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-96 as though fully 

set forth herein.   

98. Watson, by and through her employment and employment agreements signed 

pursuant thereto, is subject to a continuing obligation to keep Merck’s confidential, proprietary 

and trade secret information confidential and not to engage in any unauthorized use or disclosure 

thereof.   
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99. Watson, by and through her employment and employment agreements signed 

pursuant thereto, is subject to continuing confidentiality restrictions and has a duty to maintain 

confidentiality and not to use for any of her own purposes, or other’s purposes, the confidential, 

proprietary and trade secret information communicated to her and to which she had access 

pursuant to her confidential relationship with Merck.   

100. Watson, by working individually and/or under the direction of one or more 

persons at Pfizer, knowingly and intentionally acquired, disclosed and/or used Merck’s 

confidential, proprietary and trade secret information, including information about Merck’s 

PCV-15 program among other products and/or services, without the express or implied consent 

of Merck and by improper means, including conduct in breach of the 2004 Agreement, the 2011 

Agreement, Watson’s confidential relationship with Merck and her express and/or implied duty 

of confidentiality to Merck.  In so doing, Watson and Pfizer have wrongfully converted and 

misappropriated Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information and used it for 

their benefit and to the detriment of Merck.   

101. Pfizer, individually and/or by and through Watson, knowingly and intentionally 

acquired, used and/or disclosed, and upon information and belief, continues to acquire, use 

and/or disclose Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information, including 

information about Merck’s PCV-15 program among other products and/or services, without the 

express or implied consent of Merck, and knew or had reason to know that Merck’s confidential, 

proprietary and trade secret information was acquired by improper means by way of theft, breach 

or inducement of a breach of an express and/or implied duty to maintain the secrecy of, or to 

limit the use or disclosure of, Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information.   
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102. Upon information and belief, Watson’s conduct, constituting wrongful 

conversion and misappropriation, is the same as or similar in kind to that which she was hired to 

perform as Director, Vaccines Clinical Research, occurred substantially within the temporal and 

spatial scope of her employment at Pfizer, and was actuated, at least in part, in the service of 

Pfizer.   

103. Pfizer’s acquisition, use and/or disclosure of Merck’s confidential, proprietary 

and trade secret information (at least through Watson) provided significant competitive benefit to 

Pfizer, including in its development and patenting of compositions relating to pneumococcal 

vaccines.   

104. The aforementioned collective acts of Defendants in wrongfully converting and 

misappropriating Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information were intentional, 

knowing, willful, malicious, fraudulent and oppressive.  The actions of Defendants, as set forth 

herein, constitute misappropriation under the PUTSA, 12 PA. CONS. STAT. §§ 5301–5308.   

105. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions, Merck has been greatly 

damaged, has suffered irreparable harm, and continues to suffer irreparable harm.   

106. If not enjoined by this Court, Defendants will continue to benefit from the 

misappropriation and use of Merck’s trade secrets, causing Merck continued irreparable harm, 

damage and injury.   

107. In addition to such relief that this Court finds just and proper, this Court should 

order Defendants to assign and/or otherwise convey ownership and title in the Watson Patents 

and Patent Applications to Merck.   
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COUNT THREE: COMPUTER FRAUD AND ABUSE   

(WATSON)   

108. Merck repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-83 as though fully 

set forth herein.   

109. Merck’s computer systems, including all of the computers used by Watson, are 

used in and affect interstate commerce and interstate and/or foreign communications and to 

communicate with Merck’s customers and employees and hence, constitute “protected 

computers” as defined by the CFAA, 18 U.S.C. § 1030.   

110. Upon information and belief, Watson knowingly and with the intent to defraud 

Merck, accessed Merck’s protected computers without authorization and/or in a manner which 

exceeded her authorized access and thereby unlawfully obtained information from such protected 

computers.   

111. Watson’s unauthorized access of Merck’s protected computers was for purposes 

of Watson and/or Pfizer or those acting in concert with Watson for commercial advantage and/or 

in furtherance of one or more tortious acts in violation of applicable law.   

112. Watson’s unauthorized access of Merck’s protected computers was for the 

purpose of and resulted in Watson and/or Pfizer or those acting in concert with Watson obtaining 

Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information, which derives significant 

economic value from its not being generally known or disclosed.   

113. The foregoing conduct has caused economic damage and other damage or loss 

to Merck within the meaning of the CFAA, 18 U.S.C. § 1030, in an amount in excess of $5,000 

in a one-year period, including, but not limited to, Merck’s loss of intellectual property.   

Case 2:19-cv-02011-PD   Document 1   Filed 05/06/19   Page 30 of 44



 - 31 - 

COUNT FOUR: BREACH OF CONTRACT   

(WATSON)   

114. Merck repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-83 and 108-113 as 

though fully set forth herein.   

115. The 2004 Agreement and the 2011 Agreement constitute valid and binding 

written agreements.   

116. Merck has performed all of its contractual obligations owed to Watson under 

the terms of the 2004 Agreement and the 2011 Agreement.   

117. Watson has unjustifiably and inexcusably breached, and continues to breach, the 

2004 Agreement and the 2011 Agreement by, inter alia:  (a) divulging or conveying to others, 

information, knowledge, data and/or property relating to Merck’s business, including, but not 

limited to, Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information; (b) removing Merck’s 

property from Merck’s premises without written authorization, including, but not limited to, 

records, data files, business or project data and/or other documents, including electronic 

documents and/or copies thereof; (c) failing to convey to Merck, ownership and exclusive rights 

to inventions, discoveries, patent applications and/or patents developed or conceived solely by 

her or jointly with or by others at Merck during the period of her employment with Merck (or a 

predecessor of Merck); (d) failing to return Merck’s property on termination of employment; and 

(e) using Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information after her termination of 

employment.  Watson’s misconduct in this regard remains ongoing, and continues to harm 

Merck.   

118. As a direct and proximate result of Watson’s breaches of the 2004 Agreement 

and the 2011 Agreement, Merck has been damaged and has suffered irreparable harm, and 
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continues to suffer significant irreparable harm, including, but not limited to, Merck’s loss of 

intellectual property.   

COUNT FIVE: BREACH OF THE DUTY OF LOYALTY   

(WATSON)   

119. Merck repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-83 and 108-118 as 

though fully set forth herein.   

120. As a trusted employee of Merck, who, inter alia, signed the 2004 Agreement, 

Watson had a confidential and fiduciary relationship with Merck and owed express and implied 

duties of loyalty to Merck, Seidman v. Wilder Indus., Inc., 46 Pa. D. & C.3d 385 (C.P. 1987) 

(“The duty of the servant not to disclose the secrets of the master may arise from an express 

contract, or it may be implied from their confidential relations” (emphasis added)); and, as a 

former employee, who, inter alia, signed the 2011 Agreement, Watson has an ongoing 

confidential relationship with Merck and owes a continuing duty of loyalty to Merck.   

121. Watson, in her position as Senior Director and Director, Regulatory Liaison, 

and thereafter, intentionally failed to act in good faith and solely for the benefit of Merck and 

thus breached her duty of loyalty to Merck.  Watson breached her express duty of loyalty to 

Merck by, inter alia, taking using and/or disclosing to others, Merck’s confidential and 

proprietary information and otherwise breaching her agreements with Merck without 

authorization and for the benefit of herself and/or Merck’s competitor, Pfizer.  Watson’s 

misconduct in breach of her express duty of loyalty to Merck remains ongoing, and continues to 

harm Merck.  Watson breached her implied duty of loyalty to Merck by engaging in improper 

and tortious conduct harmful to Merck beyond the scope of her agreements with Merck, 

including, inter alia, misconduct before the USPTO as alleged in paragraphs 148-154.  Watson’s 
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misconduct in breach of her implied duty of loyalty to Merck remains ongoing, and continues to 

harm Merck.   

122. As a result of Watson’s wrongful conduct during the course of her employment 

with Merck and thereafter, Merck is entitled to, inter alia, repayment of all salary and the value 

of benefits paid to her during any period of disloyalty.   

123. As a direct and proximate result of Watson’s breach of the duty of loyalty, 

Merck has been damaged and has suffered irreparable harm, and continues to suffer significant 

irreparable harm.   

COUNT SIX: BREACH OF THE IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR 
DEALING   

 
(WATSON)   

124. Merck repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-83 and 108-123 as 

though fully set forth herein.   

125. Watson’s employment relationship with Merck required Watson to exercise, at 

all times, the utmost good faith and deal fairly with Merck in carrying out her job duties and 

responsibilities by reason of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing implied in every 

contract.   

126. Watson has breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing arising 

from, inter alia, the 2004 Agreement and the 2011 Agreement, by engaging in improper and 

tortious conduct beyond the scope of those agreements, and which is harmful to Merck, 

including, inter alia, misconduct before the USPTO as alleged in paragraphs 148-154.  Watson’s 

misconduct in breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing remains ongoing, 

and continues to harm to Merck.   
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127. As a direct and proximate result of the aforementioned conduct of Watson 

and/or those acting in concert with her, Merck has been damaged and has suffered irreparable 

harm, and continues to suffer significant irreparable harm.   

COUNT SEVEN: CONVERSION   
 

(PFIZER AND WATSON)   

128. Merck repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-83 and 108-127 as 

though fully set forth herein.   

129. Watson’s employment with Merck ended on January 20, 2011.   

130. Watson improperly took, retained, failed to return, transferred and used Merck’s 

property and confidential and proprietary information without authorization or lawful 

justification and with the intent to use and/or disclose such information in a manner adverse to 

Merck’s rights and interests.  Watson improperly transferred Merck’s property and confidential 

and proprietary information to Pfizer, including onto Pfizer’s electronic systems, thereby 

depriving Merck of control over its property to this day.  Moreover, Defendants have and 

continue to unreasonably refuse Merck’s repeated requests and demands to properly investigate 

and return Merck’s property and confidential and proprietary information.  In so doing, 

Defendants have unreasonably withheld and continue to unreasonably withhold Merck’s 

property and confidential and proprietary information in defiance of Merck’s rights and interests 

therein.  As a result, Defendants have and continue to misuse and seriously damage Merck’s 

property and confidential and proprietary information.  Defendants’ misconduct in this regard 

remains ongoing, and continues to harm Merck.   

131. Watson was not authorized by Merck to retain, take or not return any of 

Merck’s property or confidential and proprietary information when her employment with Merck 

ended.  Pursuant to paragraph 2 of the 2011 Agreement, Watson was required to return to Merck 
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“[a]ll memoranda, notes, records, . . . date files, . . . business or project data, papers or other 

documents, including electronic documents (and all copies thereof) relating to [Merck’s] 

business and all property associated therewith . . . in any way authored or obtained by me while 

employed by [Merck].”   

132. As a direct and proximate result of Watson’s conversion of Merck’s property 

and confidential and proprietary information, Merck has been damaged and has suffered 

irreparable harm, and continues to suffer significant irreparable harm by, inter alia, damaging the 

secrecy and exclusivity of Merck’s property and confidential and proprietary information.   

COUNT EIGHT: UNFAIR COMPETITION   
 

(PFIZER AND WATSON)   

133. Merck repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-83 and 108-132 as 

though fully set forth herein.   

134. Defendants have no right to possess, maintain or use any of Merck’s 

confidential and proprietary information.  In so doing, Defendants have, and continue to, 

misappropriate Merck’s commercial advantage by depriving Merck of the exclusivity of its 

confidential and proprietary information and unlawfully using the same.  Defendants’ 

misconduct in this regard remains ongoing, and continues to harm Merck.   

135. Upon information and belief, Defendants improperly utilized and relied upon 

Merck’s confidential and proprietary information to conduct business that is competitive with 

Merck, and Defendants have engaged in unfair competition.   

136. Merck is entitled to, inter alia, an accounting of all the work already performed 

by Defendants relating to their possession, maintenance and/or use of Merck’s confidential and 

proprietary information and damages in connection therewith.   
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137. As a direct and proximate result of the aforementioned conduct, Merck has been 

damaged and has suffered irreparable harm, and continues to suffer significant irreparable harm.   

COUNT NINE: UNJUST ENRICHMENT   
 

(PFIZER AND WATSON)   

138. Merck repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-83 and 108-137 as 

though fully set forth herein.   

139. By unlawfully acquiring, maintaining and using Merck’s property and 

confidential and proprietary information without authorization, benefits have been unjustly 

conferred on Defendants by Merck which has caused significant harm to Merck and led to 

significant financial gain to Defendants through their unlawful use of Merck’s property and 

information.  Moreover, Defendants have and continue to retain those benefits, despite Merck’s 

repeated requests and demands to properly investigate and return Merck’s property and 

confidential and proprietary information.  Defendants’ misconduct in this regard remains 

ongoing, and continues to harm Merck.   

140. Defendants acquired and accepted the benefits conferred by Merck’s property 

and confidential and proprietary information voluntarily and with full knowledge of the benefits.   

141. Defendants have retained the benefits under such circumstances that make it 

unjust and inequitable for Defendants to retain the benefits without paying Merck the value of 

the benefits acquired.   

142. As a direct and proximate result of the aforementioned conduct of Defendants, 

Merck has been damaged and has suffered irreparable harm, and continues to suffer significant 

irreparable harm.   
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COUNT TEN: DECLARATION THAT MERCK IS THE OWNER OR JOINT OWNER 
OF THE WATSON PATENTS AND PATENT APPLICATIONS   

(PFIZER AND WATSON)   

143. Merck repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-142 as though fully 

set forth herein.  An actual and justifiable controversy exists between Merck, Pfizer and Watson 

as to whether Merck is the owner or a joint owner of some or all of the Watson Patents and 

Patent Applications. 

144.  Watson, by and through the 2004 Agreement and the 2011 Agreement, made a 

present assignment of her interests in any inventions, discoveries, strategies or methodologies 

developed or conceived by Watson, solely or jointly with others, as part of her employment with 

Merck (or a predecessor of Merck).   

145. Upon information and belief, all or a portion of the subject matter of each of the 

Watson Patents and Patent Applications was developed or conceived by Watson and/or other 

Merck employees, contractors or associates during Watson’s employment with Merck.   

146. Individuals employed at Merck (either currently or formerly) with an obligation 

to assign inventions to Merck invented some or all the subject matter of the Watson Patents and 

Patent Applications, including at least Michael J. Caulfield, Patrick L. Ahl, Jeffrey T. Blue, and 

Jayme L. Cannon.   

147. As a result, Merck is the owner or a joint owner of the Watson Patents and 

Patent Applications by operation of law, pursuant to the 2004 Agreement and the 2011 

Agreement.   
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COUNT ELEVEN: DECLARATION THAT THE WATSON PATENTS AND PATENT 
APPLICATIONS ARE UNENFORCEABLE AS A RESULT OF DEFENDANTS’ 

INEQUITABLE CONDUCT   
 

(PFIZER AND WATSON)   

148. Merck repeats and realleges the allegations of paragraphs 1-147 as though fully 

set forth herein.  An actual and justifiable controversy exists between Merck, Pfizer and Watson 

as to the enforceability of some or all of the Watson Patents and Patent Applications, resulting 

from Defendants inequitable conduct before the USPTO.   

149. Enforcement of the Watson Patents and Patent Applications is barred, in whole 

or in part, due to inequitable conduct committed during prosecution thereof, in derogation of the 

patent laws of the United States and in violation of the duty of candor and good faith owed to the 

USPTO, pursuant to 37 C.F.R § 1.56.  The individuals and entities responsible for the inequitable 

conduct include, but are not limited to: Watson; Pfizer; and/or Pfizer’s 

employees/representatives.   

150. The inequitable conduct includes, inter alia, misrepresentations, false 

statements and false declarations about the inventorship of the purported inventions claimed in 

the Watson Patents and Patent Applications, all done, upon information and belief, with the 

intent to deceive the USPTO.  The inequitable conduct set forth herein is not an isolated instance, 

nor is it a result of accident or mistake; rather, it includes multiple instances, resulting in a 

pattern of conduct that demonstrates a deliberate attempt to deceive the USPTO.   

151. During prosecution, material misrepresentations were made to the USPTO by 

Watson and Pfizer (at least through Pfizer’s employees/representatives) regarding inventorship 

of the Watson Patents and Patent Applications.  For example, on January 15, 2015, Watson 

signed a Declaration listing herself as a co-inventor of the ’488 application, and swore that, “I 

believe that I am the original inventor or an original joint inventor of a claimed invention in the 
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application.”  But, Watson’s claim of inventorship is false and is based, in whole or in part, on 

information developed while she was employed at Merck (or a predecessor of Merck) and/or 

based on Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret information unlawfully converted 

and misappropriated by Defendants.   

152. Upon information and belief, throughout prosecution of the Watson Patents and 

Patent Applications, Pfizer’s employees and/or representatives, were actively involved in the 

prosecution, in what would be submitted to and what would be withheld from the USPTO, in 

identifying who would be named as purported inventors or co-inventors and in reviewing, in 

advance, written submissions to the USPTO.   

153. Upon information and belief, Watson and Pfizer (at least through its 

representatives/employees) knew that Watson’s claim of inventorship was false and was based, 

in whole or in part, on information developed while she was employed at Merck (or a 

predecessor of Merck) and/or based on Merck’s confidential, proprietary and trade secret 

information unlawfully converted and misappropriated by Defendants.  

154. Inventorship is a material requirement for obtaining a patent.  The ’559 patent 

would not have issued but for Watson.  Defendants’ misrepresentation that Watson was a first 

inventor or co-inventor of inventions that were previously developed and conceived of while at 

Merck.  Upon information and belief, Watson’s false statements regarding inventorship were 

made with specific intent to deceive the USPTO, as it is implausible for Watson to have believed 

herself to be an inventor of subject matter that was developed while she was employed at Merck 

(or a predecessor of Merck).   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF   

WHEREFORE, Merck respectfully requests that this Court:   

a. adjudge that Defendants have misappropriated Merck’s trade secrets;   
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b. adjudge that Watson has violated the CFAA;  

c. order Defendants to provide to Merck the originals and all copies of all 

documents containing Merck’s confidential, proprietary and/or trade secret information that 

Watson obtained during her employment with Merck (or a predecessor of Merck);   

d. temporarily, preliminarily and permanently enjoin and restrain Defendants, their 

officers, agents, servants, employees and those persons in active concert or participation with any 

of them, from directly or indirectly utilizing, divulging and/or relying on Merck’s confidential, 

proprietary and/or trade secret information;   

e. order Defendants to purge their devices and systems of all of Merck’s 

confidential, proprietary and trade secret information;   

f. order Watson to provide Merck with her personal computer(s) and any computers 

and/or other electronic devices that ever contained information belonging to Merck, or that 

Watson had attached to computers, systems or networks that are proprietary to Merck;   

g. declare Merck the owner by operation of law of any and all interest, title and/or 

rights to any and all inventions, discoveries, patent applications and/or patents conceived or 

developed by Watson solely or jointly with others or as to which she received information due to 

her employment with Merck (or a predecessor of Merck), including, but not limited to, any and 

all patent applications and/or patents owned by Pfizer that list Watson as an inventor or co-

inventor that relate to inventions or discoveries conceived or developed by Watson solely or 

jointly with others while at Merck;   

h. order that Merck is the sole owner or a co-owner of any and all inventions, 

discoveries, patent applications and/or patents conceived or developed by Watson solely or 

jointly with others while at Merck or as to which Defendants received information due to 
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Watson’s employment with Merck (or a predecessor of Merck), including, but not limited to, any 

and all patent applications and/or patents owned by Pfizer that list Watson as an inventor or co-

inventor that relate to inventions or discoveries conceived or developed by Watson solely or 

jointly with others while at Merck;   

i. alternatively, order Defendants to assign and/or otherwise convey ownership and 

title to any and all inventions, discoveries, patent applications and/or patents conceived or 

developed by Watson solely or jointly with others while at Merck or as to which Defendants 

received information due to Watson’s employment with Merck (or a predecessor of Merck), 

including, but not limited to, any and all patent applications and/or patents owned by Pfizer that 

list Watson as an inventor or co-inventor that relate to inventions or discoveries conceived or 

developed by Watson solely or jointly with others while at Merck;   

j. alternatively, declare that all patent applications and/or patents owned by Pfizer 

that list Watson as an inventor or co-inventor and that relate to any inventions, discoveries, 

patent applications and/or patents conceived or developed by Watson while at Merck are 

unenforceable against Merck;   

k. order an accounting of all work performed by Defendants relating to their 

possession, maintenance and/or use of Merck’s confidential, proprietary and/or trade secret 

information;   

l. award compensatory damages in an amount to be proved at trial;   

m. award punitive damages;   

n. award Merck its attorney’s fees, costs and expenses incurred as a result of this 

action; and   

o. grant Merck such further and other relief as this Court may deem just and proper.   
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JURY DEMAND 

Merck hereby respectfully demands a trial by jury of all issues so triable, pursuant to 

Rule 38, Fed. R. Civ. P. 

Dated: May 6, 2019 

Of Counsel 
(pro hac to be filed for all of counsel): 

Anthony M. Insogna 
Randall E. Kay 
JONES DAY 
4655 Executive Drive 
Suite 1500 
San Diego, CA 92121 
(858) 314-1200 
aminsogna@jonesday.com 
rekay@jonesday.com 

Ryan B. McCrum 
JONES DAY 
901 Lakeside A venue 
Cleveland, OH 44114 
(312) 782-3939 
rbmccrum@jonesday.com 

Stephanie E. Parker 
JONES DAY 
1420 Peachtree Street, N.E. 
Suite 800 
Atlanta, GA 30309 
(404) 581-8552 
separker@jonesday.com 

Arlene L. Chow 
HOGAN LOVELLS US LLP 
390 Madison Ave. 
New York, NY 10017 
(212) 918-3000 
arlene.chow@hoganlovells.com 

James S. Urban 
Jeffrey J. Bresch (to be admitted) 
JONES DAY 

500 Grant Street 
Suite 4500 
Pittsburgh, PA 15219 
(4 12) 391-3939 
jsurban@jonesday.com 
jbresch @jonesday.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Merck Sharp & Dahme Corp. 
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO LOCAL CIVIL RULE 40.1   
 

Pursuant to Local Civil Rule 40.1, I hereby certify that the matter in controversy is not 

the subject of any other proceeding or arbitration either pending or terminated within the 

previous year in this Court.  The ’559 patent referenced herein is the subject of numerous 

pending inter partes review proceedings, including:  (i) Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Pfizer 

Inc., No. IPR2017-02131 (P.T.A.B. 2017); (ii) Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Pfizer Inc., No. 

IPR2017-02132 (P.T.A.B. 2017); (iii) Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Pfizer Inc., No. IPR2017-

02136 (P.T.A.B. 2017); (iv) Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Pfizer Inc., No. IPR2017-02138 

(P.T.A.B. 2017); (v) Sanofi Pasteur Inc. v. Pfizer Inc., No. IPR2018-00187 (P.T.A.B. 2017); and 

(vi) Sanofi Pasteur Inc. v. Pfizer Inc., No. IPR2018-00188 (P.T.A.B. 2017).   
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Dated: May 6, 2019 

Of Counsel 
(pro hac to be filed for all of counsel): 

Anthony M. Insogna 
Randall E. Kay 
JONES DAY 
4655 Executive Drive 
Suite 1500 
San Diego, CA 92121 
(858) 314-1200 
aminsogna@jonesday.com 
rekay@jonesday.com 

Ryan B. McCrum 
JONES DAY 
901 Lakeside A venue 
Cleveland, OH 44114 
(216) 586-3939 
rbmccrum@jonesday.com 

Stephanie E. Parker 
JONES DAY 
1420 Peachtree Street, N .E. 
Suite 800 
Atlanta, GA 30309 
( 404) 581-8552 
separker@jonesday.com 

Arlene L. Chow 
HOGAN LOVELLS US LLP 
390 Madison Ave. 
New York, NY 10017 
(212) 918-3000 
arlene.chow@hoganlovells.com 

James S. Urban 
Jeffrey J. Bresch (to be admitted) 
JONES DAY 
500 Grant Street 
Suite 4500 
Pittsburgh, PA 15219 
(412) 391-3939 
jsurban@jonesday.com 
jbresch@jonesday.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Merck Sharp & Dahme Corp. 
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